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Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conm ssi on
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

MCCOY ELKHORN COAL CORPORATI QN, Cont est of Order
CONTESTANT
Docket No. KENT 80-243-R
V. Order No. 722582
April 4, 1980
SECRETARY OF LABOR,
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH No. 4 M ne
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MBHA) ,
RESPONDENT Contest of Ctation

Docket No. KENT 80-244-R
Citation No. 722581
April 3, 1980

No. 4 M ne
DECI SI ON

Appear ances: Fred G Karem Esq., Shuffett, Kenton, Curry &
Karem Lexington, Kentucky, for Contestant
WIlliamF. Taylor, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor,
U S. Department of Labor, for Respondent

Bef or e: Admi ni strative Law Judge Steffey

Pursuant to an order issued June 2, 1980, a hearing in the
above-entitl ed consolidated proceeding was held on July 22, 1980,
in Pikeville, Kentucky, under section 105(d) of the Federal M ne
Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. 0O815(d). Al civil
penalty issues were consolidated for purposes of avoiding an
additional hearing in the event a violation of a mandatory safety
standard should be found to have occurred, but the civil penalty
issues will be severed fromthis decision and will be decided in
a subsequent decision after | have received a Petition for
Assessment of Civil Penalty filed by the Secretary of Labor with
respect to the violation of 30 CF. R [075.400 alleged in
Ctation No. 722581 which is under review in Docket No. KENT
80- 244-R

At the conclusion of the hearing, counsel for the parties
indicated that they would Iike to file briefs before a decision
was rendered. It was agreed
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that simultaneous briefs would be filed by Septenber 29, 1980
(Tr. 366). Counsel for the Secretary of Labor filed a menorandum
of law on October 1, 1980, and counsel for MCoy El khorn Coa
Corporation filed a posthearing brief on Cctober 2, 1980.

| ssues

The menorandum of law (p. 2) subnmitted by counsel for the
Secretary lists four issues which have been raised in this
pr oceedi ng:

(1) Wether or not the violation set forth in the 104(a)
citation issued April 3, 1980, had been conpletely abated at the
time the 104(b) order was issued.

(2) Wether or not the Mne Safety and Health
Admi ni stration's inspector abused his discretion when he
determ ned not to extend the abatement tine of the 104(a)
citation.

(3) Wether or not failure to state correctly the initial
action citation nunber voids the resulting 104(b) order

(4) \Wether or not the 104(b) order is void because the
i nspector failed to nake a witten finding that the abatenent
peri od shoul d not be enlarged in regard to the 104(a) citation

McCoy El khorn's posthearing brief contains argunents
pertaining to the four issues set forth above. Since |l amin
substantial agreement with all of the argunents nmade in the
Secretary's nenorandum of law, my decision will primarily
consi der the argunents set forth in McCoy El khorn's brief.

Bef ore considering the parties' argunents, | shall make sone
findings of fact on which ny decision will be based.

Fi ndi ngs of Fact

1. Contestant MCoy El khorn Coal Corporation in April 1980
owned three coal mnes, nanmely, Nos. 1, 3 and 4. On a daily
basis, the No. 1 Mne produces about 1,900 tons, the No. 3 Mne
produces approximately 400 tons, and the No. 4 M ne produces
about 600 tons. MCoy El khorn has 237 enpl oyees, including both

of fice and production personnel. MCoy El khorn is an affiliate
of CGeneral Energy Corporation of Lexington, Kentucky. MCoy
El khorn's three mnes are all located in Pike County, Kentucky

(Tr. 32; 178-180).

2. M. Kellis Fields, a duly authorized representative of
the Secretary of Labor, traveled to McCoy El khorn's No. 4 Mne on
April 3, 1980, for the purpose of initiating a regular inspection
pursuant to section 103(a) of the Federal Mne Safety and Heal th
Act of 1977 (Tr. 139). On that day, the inspector issued two
citations alleging violations of 30 C F.R 0[75.400
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whi ch provides "[c]oal dust, including float coal dust deposited
on rock-dusted surfaces, |oose coal, and other conbustible
materials, shall be cleaned up and not be permtted to accumul ate
in active workings, or on electric equipment” (Tr. 14-15).

3. One of the citations alleged a violation of section
75.400 with respect to a | oading nmachine and the other citation
was No. 722581 issued at 11:30 a.m alleging that "conbustible
material in the formof oil and grease with coal dust was all owed
to accumnul ate under the lid, on and around electrical notors, in
one place around the notor 1/2 inch deep on the 16-RB cutter on
the 002 section." The tinme set for abatenment was 8 a.m the next
day, that is, April 4, 1980 (Tr. 15-16; Exh. 1).

4. \Wen the inspector returned to the mne on the norning
of April 4, he first exami ned the | oading machi ne and found t hat
all conmbustible materials had been cleaned fromthe | oadi ng
machine. He therefore termnated the citation which had been
i ssued with respect to the |oading machine (Tr. 19).

5. M. Mchael K Norman, MCoy El khorn's safety director
acconpani ed the inspector during his exam nation of the No. 4
M ne on both April 3 and 4, 1980 (Tr. 13; 183). At the time of
the hearing held on July 22, 1980, M. Norman had been pronoted
to the position of mne foreman (Tr. 178).

6. After conpleting his exam nation of the | oading machine,
the i nspector watched the mners | oad coal and took an air
readi ng. Then the inspector went to the place where the cutting
machi ne was sitting and began checking it (Tr. 51). He and the
safety director were joined by M. Lester Varney, MCoy El khorn's
section foreman on the day shift. The inspector could see down
into the cutting machi ne because one of the guards on the back
si de had been renoved. The inspector remarked that the cutting
machi ne had not been cl eaned of all conbustible material. The
safety director and the section foreman exanm ned the cutting
machi ne and both expressed the opinion that they thought the
cutting machi ne was "okay" (Tr. 19-20).

7. The inspector then asked that the other lid on the front
of the cutter be renoved. After the front Iid had been renoved,
t he i nspector again exam ned the remai nder of the machine. The
i nspector used his ruler and found that oil and grease stil
exi sted under the lids to a depth of from1/4 to 1/2 inch. The
i nspector again remarked that the cutter had not been properly
cl eaned of all conbustible materials (Tr. 21; 42; 127; 359).
Neither the safety director nor the section foreman offered to
have any nore cl eaning done on the cutter (Tr. 105; 214;
359-361) .

8. After the inspector had carefully exam ned the entire
machi ne and had shown the safety director the anount of oil and
grease whi ch he had neasured around el ectrical components, the
i nspector waited an additional 5 to 15 seconds for the safety
director or section foreman to offer to do additional cleaning or
expl ain why additional tine was needed for properly cleaning the



machi ne, the inspector stated that the nachi ne was down or cl osed
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(Tr. 21; 359-361). The safety director asked if that neant the

i nspector had issued a wi thdrawal order and the inspector replied
that it did (Tr. 128-129). The inspector's Order No. 722582

i ssued April 4, 1980, stated "[a]ll conmbustible material stil

has not been cleaned fromthe 16 RB Joy Cutter, and oil and
grease still can be neasured from1/4 to 1/2 inch in depth and no
one is cleaning on this piece of equipnent” (Tr. 118; Exh. 1).

9. The inspector defended his issuance of the w thdrawal
order on various grounds. He stated that it is his practice to
grant extensions of tine for conpliance with violations he has
cited when an operator explains why a given violation has not
been abated and asks for an extension of time (Tr. 106; 135).

The inspector stated that in this instance he did not grant an
extension of tine because no one asked for additional time within
which to clean the remaining conbustible material off the cutting
machi ne and both the safety director and the section forenman had
unequi vocal |y expressed the opinion that the cutting machi ne had
been adequately cleaned (Tr. 20; 51; 188; 212; 314). The

i nspector stated that he had reason to doubt that the additiona
cl eani ng he believed to be necessary woul d have been done if he
had voluntarily extended the tine for a couple of hours (Tr.

109). He believed that issuance of a withdrawal order was
necessary to obtain total abatenment, that is, the cleaning of al
conbustible materials fromthe cutting machine (Tr. 127; 361).

10. The inspector stated that about 60 percent of the
conbustible materials on the cutting machi ne had been renoved
between the tinme he issued the original citation on April 3 and
the tine he exam ned the cutting machine on April 4 (Tr. 88).

The inspector believed that the use of water and solvents and the
ot her cl eani ng which had been done on the cutting machi ne had
reduced the machine's propensity for causing a fire on April 4
(Tr. 98), but the inspector believed that the water and sol vents
woul d evaporate at a subsequent tine and | eave the same kind of

i gni tabl e residue which he had initially observed (Tr. 93; 100).
Therefore, he concluded that failure to renove all the
conbustible materials which existed on April 4 would cause the
cutting machine to revert to a hazardous condition since oil was
still present where heat fromthe notor and a possible spark from
el ectrical components could produce a fire or an explosion (Tr.
27; 40; 58; 95).

11. The inspector believed that the violation was the
result of a high degree of negligence (Exh. 1, p. 2). The
operator's cleani ng program under which the equi prent was to be
cl eaned once every 2 weeks was either not being perforned or, if
bei ng perforned, was not requiring sufficient frequency of
cl eaning to keep the equi prent free of conbustible materials (Tr.
356-357; Exh. 12). The inspector stated that the anount of
conbusti ble materials he saw on the equi pnent woul d not have
accunul ated if the operator had been cleaning the equi pment with
sufficient regularity (Tr. 75; 161).

12. The inspector considered the violation to be serious
dependi ng on the circunstances that mght exist at the tine a



fire or explosion mght occur as a result of the accunul ati on of
conbustible materials on the cutting
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machine. If all 10 of the miners who worked in the section where
the cutting machi ne was used were present in the mne, they could
be overconme by snoke inhal ati on dependi ng on the adequacy of
ventilation at the tinme of the fire and the extent of the mners
training as to what to do in case of fire, that is, how well they
reacted in using the proper escapeways and whet her the escapeways
were being properly maintained (Tr. 27; 28; 40; 144).

Consi derati ons countervailing the above-nenti oned hazards were
that the m ne had been adequately rock dusted on April 3 and 4,
1980, and the fact that no nethane had been detected on either
day (Tr. 65-66). Additionally, the cutting machine i s equi pped
with a fire suppression systemand a breaker system which shoul d
di sconnect power in an enmergency (Tr. 98).

13. As to the operator's history of previous violations,
Exhi bit 3 shows that McCoy El khorn was previously cited on
Cctober 2, 3, and 4, 1979, for having accumul ati ons of
conbustible materials on five different pieces of mning
equi prent (Tr. 156; 356-357).

14. MCoy El khorn's safety director exam ned the cutting
machi ne along with the inspector on the norning of April 4, 1980
(Tr. 183-184). The safety director was of the opinion that the
cutting machi ne had been cl eaned thoroughly, although he conceded
that in the conpartnents under the lids there were still sonme
accunul ati ons of soggy-like stuff with oil init (Tr. 186). The
safety director had never seen a cutting nmachine, as clean as
that one was, receive a citation before (Tr. 188). Although the
safety director did not ask the inspector for an extension of
time within which to do nore cleaning (Tr. 214), he said they
woul d have done additional cleaning if the inspector had
voluntarily extended the time (Tr. 190). The safety director's
description of the nunber of hours that were spent by the
mai nt enance shift in cleaning the cutting machi ne was based on
his di scussion with the section foreman who works on the
mai nt enance shift and with M. Dover Varney, the scoop operator
who was chiefly given the responsibility for cleaning the cutting
machi ne (Tr. 225).

15. M. Ronnie Fletcher was the section foreman on the
mai nt enance shift which began at 11 p.m and ended at 7 a.m (Tr.
253). He was called at home by the day-shift section foreman
M. Lester Varney, who told himthat citations had been witten
wi th respect to excessive accumul ati ons on the | oadi ng nachi ne
and cutting machi ne and that the superintendent wanted the
machi nes thoroughly cleaned on M. Fletcher's shift (Tr. 236).
The superintendent, M. Stanley Charles, called M. Fletcher at
the m ne about 10:50 p.m and enphasi zed that the equi prment
shoul d be nmade "extra clean" (Tr. 237; 344). M. Fletcher
described in great detail how he and the three mners on his crew
used cap wedges and roof bolts to scrape and | oosen the dirt and
grease around the nmotor and other fittings (Tr. 238). Two 3-inch
holes in the bottom of the notor conpartnment were filled with nud
when they began cl eaning and those holes had to be opened with
roof bolts so that the dirt could be raked out of the conpart nment
(Tr. 239). After the four nmen had scraped dirt off the machine



for 2 hours, one of them sprayed a solvent on the machine froma
55-gal l on drum using about 40 to 50 gallons on the cutter (Tr.
241; 262). M. Fletcher said that the solvent was sprayed on the
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machine while it was still hot so that it would dissolve the
grease around the motor (Tr. 241-246). The sol vent works
especially well when equiprment is hot (Tr. 246).

16. The miners ate lunch fromabout 3 to 3:45 a.m Then
they rinsed the solvent off the cutting machine with a water hose
and backed the cutter out of the place where they had cleaned it
and turned it left-handed in the No. 6 entry (Tr. 256; 272-274).
Two men had started scraping the dirt off the | oadi ng machi ne at
2 a.m They finished scraping on the |oading nmachi ne and had
started scraping on the coal drill shortly before eating |lunch at
3 am (Tr. 259; 272-273). Then the |oader was brought in,
sprayed with solvent, and washed with water. Finally, after
nmovi ng the | oadi ng machi ne out of the washing place, the coa
drill was brought in, sprayed with solvent, washed with a water
hose, and returned to the place where the nmen had found it in the
No. 5 entry (Tr. 275). Al three pieces of equipnent were
cl eaned at the sane place in the mne and not one of the three
pi eces of equipnent was sitting in the place where it had been
cl eaned when it was exam ned by the inspector on the norning of
April 4 (Tr. 274-275).

17. M. Fletcher referred to cleaning grease off the
cutting machine, specifically nentioned that grease was cl eaned
fromaround the notor, and stated that grease ran out of the
conpartnment under the lids (Tr. 238; 241; 242). M. Charles, the
m ne superintendent, clainmed that the inspector should not have
referred in his citation and order to the existence of grease on
the cutting machi ne because the only grease used in the rear
conpartnent was in a sealed unit (Tr. 363-364). M. Fletcher
found it necessary to contradict hinself about his references to
grease in his direct testinmony when his counsel specifically
asked himif he saw any grease under the Iid in the rear
conmpartnment (Tr. 245).

18. M. Fletcher stated that it was inpossible to clean
accumul ations of oil from beneath the notor in the rear
conpartnment and that if the inspector had put a ruler down beside
the motor after the cutter had been cl eaned, that he woul d expect
the inspector would definitely have been able to neasure from1/4
to 1/2 inch of oil in that location (Tr. 283-284). M. Fletcher
al so stated that the mners had cleaned the cutting nmachine to
his "satisfaction" (Tr. 271).

19. Despite M. Charles' position that grease can not exi st
on the cutting machi ne, a menorandum from McCoy El khorn's
di vi si on nanager states that all "grease" and other conbustible
materials are to be cleaned off the equipnent every 2 weeks (Tr.
289; Exh. 12). Notwithstanding the posting of the nenorandum
about the necessity of cleaning equipnment every 2 weeks (Tr.
290), M. Fletcher stated that it was not one of his regular
duties to clean equi pnment on the maintenance shift and that
cl eani ng of equi pnent was done primarily when equi pnent breaks
down because, at such tinmes, the nen have nothing else to do
other than to cl ean equi pnent (Tr. 285).



20. M. Dover Varney is a scoop operator on the maintenance
shift and he had the primary duty of cleaning the cutting nmachi ne
on April 4. His
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description of the cleaning process does not differ fromM.
Fletcher's, but M. Varney did describe a practice which may well
have contributed to the accunul ati ons whi ch the i nspector saw
when he issued his citation. Although M. Varney denied that
grease existed in the conpartnment under the rear lid, he said
that if they find an oil accunulation down in a conpartnent, they
throw rock dust on the oil which has the effect of absorbing the
oil. Then they can scrape off the conbined m xture of rock dust
and oil, spray the area with a solvent, and wash it with a water
hose (Tr. 308).

21. M. Lester Varney, the day-shift section foreman, was
present when the inspector issued the citation on April 3 and he
stated that oil and dirt were "pretty thick™ on the machi ne at
the tine the citation was issued (Tr. 310). M. Varney was
instructed by the superintendent to check the cutter as soon as
he went underground on the day shift. M. Varney checked the
cutter and thought it | ooked clean and reported to the
superintendent on the mne tel ephone that the cutter was cl ean
(Tr. 312). M. Varney clainmed that he was surprised when the
i nspector exanmi ned the cutter and stated that it was not clean
enough (Tr. 314). M. Varney said that he woul d have been
willing to clean sone nore on the cutter if the inspector had
asked himto do so and had voluntarily extended the time for that
purpose (Tr. 316). Despite the fact that M. Varney thought the
cutter was clean, after the order was issued, he had five mners
use cap wedges and roof bolts for about 1-1/2 hours for the
pur pose of cleaning the remaining materials fromthe cutting
machine (Tr. 320). M. Varney stated that there was sone nud,
water, solvent, and a little oil on the cutter at the tine the
i nspector issued his order (Tr. 313; 324). Although M. Varney
was within 2 feet of the inspector when the inspector was
checking the depth of the oil and grease inside the rear
conpartnment on the cutting machine, M. Varney could not say how
much oil showed on the inspector's ruler when he neasured the
materials on the bottomof the conpartment (Tr. 335). M. Varney
stated that the barrels fromwhich the cleaning sol vent had been
taken were sitting nearby and were pointed out to the inspector
by McCoy El khorn's safety director (Tr. 335). The mai ntenance
shift foreman, M. Fletcher, however, testified that the barre
fromwhi ch the solvent had been taken was left |ying on the scoop
so that they could conveniently fill buckets fromthe barrel (Tr.
262).

22. M. WIlliam Stanley Charles, the superintendent of the
No. 4 Mne, did not personally see the cutting machi ne before the
i nspector's citation was witten and did not exam ne the cutting
machi ne before or after the inspector's order was witten (Tr.
350). The superintendent stated that his forenen are very
conpetent mners and that he believed that they correctly
reported to himthat the cutter was in excellent condition on the
nmorni ng of April 4 when the inspector issued the w thdrawal order
after finding that all conbustible materials had not been cl eaned
fromthe cutting machine (Tr. 351). M. Charles could not state
that he has a specific programwhich assures that the equi pment
wi |l be cleaned at | east once every 2 weeks. Al M. Charles



could state was that cl eaning was done when equi pnent had broken
down and that cleaning was a priority consideration on Saturday
(Tr. 355-357).
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Consi derati on of Argunents Contained in MCoy El khorn's Brief

1. \Whether There Was an Accumul ati on within the Meani ng of
Section 75.400 at the Tinme O der No. 722582 Was |ssued
on April 4, 1980

McCoy El khorn's brief does not challenge whether a violation
of section 75.400 existed when the inspector issued Citation No.
722581 on April 3, 1980. MCoy El khorn cannot question whether a
violation of section 75.400 existed when the citation was issued
because its own w tnesses agreed that the accunul ations on the
cutting machine on April 3, 1980, were "pretty thick" (Tr. 310)
and that four mners worked on the cutting nachi ne for about 12
man hours before they had cleaned it to the section foreman's
"satisfaction" (Tr. 271; Finding Nos. 3, 15-16, 20-21, supra).

McCoy El khorn's brief (pp. 4-7) does contend, however, that
there was no violation of section 75.400 on April 4, 1980, when
the inspector issued Wthdrawal Order No. 722582 after he had
found that the violation had not been "totally abated® within the
meani ng of section 104(b) of the Act. MCoy El khorn argues that
"accumul ate" means "to heap or pile up" and that the nere
exi stence of conbustible materials cannot be considered a
viol ation of section 75.400. |In support of the foregoing
contention, MCoy El khorn cites the Conm ssion's decision in dd
Ben Coal Co., 1 FMBHRC 1954 (1979), at 1958, where the Conm ssion
st at ed:

W accept that some spillage of conbustible materials
may be inevitable in mning operations. \Wether a
spill age constitutes an accumul ati on under the standard

is a question, at least in part, of size and anount.
* * %

McCoy El khorn clains that its witnesses' testinony shows that the
cutting machi ne had been thoroughly cl eaned on the maintenance
shift which begins at 11 p.m and ends at 7 a.m It is argued
that the inspector's position as to what constitutes an
"accumul ati on" within the nmeaning of section 75.400 is clearly
wrong because he believed that nere exi stence of any anmount of a
conbustible material is an "accumul ation” prohibited by section
75. 400.

The above argunent of McCoy El horn is not well taken in the
context of the factual situation which confronted the inspector
on the norning of April 4. The inspector had on April 3, 1980,

i ssued two citations alleging violations of section 75.400
because of accunul ati ons of coal dust, oil, and grease on the

| oadi ng machi ne and the cutting machine. Wen the inspector
returned on April 4, he found that the accumul ati ons had been
properly renmoved fromthe | oadi ng machi ne and he terninated the
citation with respect to that nmachine. The inspector, however,
found that the cutting machine had not been properly cl eaned
because he could still see and neasure up to 1/2 inch of oil and
grease around the nmotor in the rear conpartnent of the cutting
machi ne. Al though the inspector agreed with McCoy El khorn's



counsel on cross-exanmi nation that the oil and grease were then
m xed with water and solvent as a result of the mners' partial
abatement of the violation, he still believed that the

accunul ati ons he had cited on April 3 had been only
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60 percent renoved. He stated that the water and sol vents used
on the oil and grease woul d evaporate and the oily substances
around the notor and el ectrical conponents woul d cause the
cutting machine to beconme a possible fire or expl osion hazard
shortly after it began to be used again (Finding Nos. 4, 7-8, 10,
supra).

It is true that McCoy El khorn's witnesses clainmed that there
were only small anounts of materials around the notor and
el ectrical conmponents, but not one of the forenen failed to
concede that sone oil still existed after they had conpl et ed
cl eaning the cutting machine (Finding Nos. 18 and 21; Tr.
185-186; 202; 215; 227). MCoy El khorn overl ooks the fact that
when its forenen conceded that any conbustible materails remai ned
after the cleaning of the cutting machine, the |ikelihood that
the conbustible materials were as extensive as those described by
the inspector is great. The reason for the foregoing concl usion
lies in the fact that the m ne superintendent had specifically
told his foremen to make certain that the cutting nmachi ne was
t horoughly cl eaned. They assured himthat it had been (Fi nding
Nos. 15, 21, and 22, supra). Therefore, when the inspector issued
a withdrawal order, they had no choice but to take the position
that the inspector had incorrectly clainmed that the cutting
machi ne still had not been properly cl eaned.

I find that the inspector's testinony is nore credible than
that of McCoy El khorn's witnesses in the above-descri bed
circunstances. Additionally, there was no reason what soever for
the inspector to exam ne the | oading machine and find that it had
been properly cleaned and then to exam ne the cutting machi ne and
find that it had not been properly cleaned (Finding Nos. 4 and 7,
supra). The fact that the inspector considered one violation of
section 75.400 to have been "totally abated" and found that the
other violation had not been "totally abated" shows that the
i nspector was maki ng i ndependent and inpartial evaluation with
respect to each piece of equipnent.

| have exam ned the judges' decisions cited on pages 5 and 6
of McCoy El khorn's brief in support of its argunents, but those
deci sions were based on facts which are different fromthose
which existed in this proceeding. | find that accumul ati ons of
oil and grease to a depth of 1/2 inch are sufficient to
constitute an accunul ati on of "conbustible materials” * * * "on
el ectrical equipnment” within the neaning of section 75.400
(Finding Nos. 2 and 8, supra). Therefore, MCoy El khorn's
argunent that there was no violation of section 75.400 when O der
No. 722582 was issued is rejected.

2. \Wether any Materials Remaining on the Cutting Machi ne Wre
"Conbustible Materials" within the Meani ng of Section 75.400

McCoy El khorn's brief (pp. 7-9) next contends that whatever
nom nal material may have still existed on the cutting machi ne on
the morning of April 4 was basically inert matter and was so
m xed with i nconbustibles as not to be ignitable. MCoy El khorn
cites the extensive testinony of its witnesses in support of the



foregoing argunent. It is true that MCoy El khorn's w tnesses
explained in great detail all the hours of cleaning with
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cap wedges, roof bolts, solvent, and water hoses which had been
done to the cutting machine on the maintenance shift. It is true
that all of the mners who worked on the cutting machi ne and the
foremen who exam ned the cutting machine on April 4 enphasized
that the cutting machi ne had been drenched in solvents and water.
The inspector hinself agreed that at the time he issued his
order, the cutting machi ne was probably no hazard to the nminers
because of the anobunt of water which had been used on the

machi ne. The inspector explained, however, that the water would
evaporate after the mners began operating it and that the oily
subst ance which was originally cited woul d agai n render the
machine a fire or an expl osive hazard (Finding Nos. 10; 15-16).

No witness rebutted the inspector's claimthat the water
woul d evaporate, |leaving the oily substances which created the
fire hazard. Additionally, if the cutting machine was as free of
conbustible materials as is contended by McCoy El khorn, there
woul d have been no reason for five mners to clean on the cutting
machine for 1-1/2 hours after the order was issued if the 40
percent of conbustibles originally cited in the inspector's

citation had not still existed on the cutting nachine at the tine
the order was issued (Finding No. 21, supra). The preponderance
of the evidence shows that conbustible materials still existed on

April 4 when the order was issued. Therefore, the argunent that
no conbustible materials within the neaning of section 75.400
exi sted on the norning of April 4 nmust al so be rejected.

3. \Whether, Assum ng Arguendo, that Additional Wrk toward
Abat enent WAs Required, the Inspector Acted Arbitrarily
and Unreasonably in Failing To Extend the Time for
Abat enent and in Issuing the O der

The first part of McCoy El khorn's argunment as to the
i nspector's all eged unreasonabl eness in issuing the w thdrawal
order, instead of extending the tinme for conpliance, is that the
m ners woul d have been exposed to no danger if the inspector had
extended the tinme instead of issuing a withdrawal order (Brief,
pp. 10-12). There is no doubt but that the inspector knew when
he wote the original citation giving MCoy El khorn until 8 a.m
the following day for abating the violation, that M Coy El khorn
had the option of continuing to use the cutting machi ne during
t he remai nder of the day shift and during the evening shift which
foll owed before doing any cleaning on the cutter. As a matter of
fact, that is what happened, because the superintendent of the
m ne assigned all work toward abatenment of the violation to the
section foreman on the maintenance shift which extended from 11
p.m to 7 am (Finding No. 15, supra).

| have al ready found above that the inspector did not think
that the miners would have been exposed to an i medi ate hazard if
he had extended the tinme for abatenment (Finding No. 10, supra).
McCoy El khorn argues that the primary matter which the inspector
must consi der when deci di ng whether to extend the tine for
conpli ance, or issue an order pursuant to section 104(b), is
whet her an extension of tine will expose the nminers to any undue
hazard. McCoy El khorn cites United States Steel Corp., 7 |IBVA 109



(1976), in support of the above argunent. |In that case, the
fornmer Board of M ne Operations Appeals
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affirmed a judge's decision finding that an inspector had abused
his discretion in issung a withdrawal order instead of extending
the time within which U S. Steel could submt sone additiona
respirabl e dust sanples. The Board's deci si on enphasi zes that
US. Steel offered to achieve early abatenent in securing the
dust sanple by calling a miner in to work on the shift begi nning
at 4 p.m, instead of his normal mdnight shift, but the

i nspector declined to grant the extension despite U S. Steel's
affirmative and voluntary efforts to achieve early conpliance.

In this proceedi ng, McCoy El khorn's safety director and
section foreman told the inspector that they thought the cutting
machi ne was "okay" and did not need further cleaning. They never
did offer to have additional cleaning done, did not explain why
the cutting machi ne had not been properly cleaned, and did not
ask for an extension of time within which to perform additiona
cl eaning (Finding Nos. 4-8, supra). Moreover, the inspector
stated that he believed that the safety director and section
foreman had taken a firmposition indicating that they woul d not
do any additional cleaning on the machine unless he issued a
wi t hdrawal order (Finding No. 9, supra).

I nasmuch as the cutting machi ne had been used on the evening
shift, as was denonstrated by the fact that the section foreman
on the mai ntenance shift stated that he had the nachi ne sprayed
with solvent while it was still hot, the inspector reasonably
assuned that the cutting machi ne woul d again be used for
production if he extended the tinme (Finding Nos. 10 and 15,
supra). Although some of McCoy El khorn's witnesses cl ai ned t hat
no production had occurred on the norning of April 4 prior to the
time that the inspector exam ned the cutting machine, the
i nspector had watched the nen operate the | oadi ng machine just a
few m nutes before he exam ned the cutting machi ne which, up to
that time, had not been used on the day shift (Finding No. 6,
supra).

The Secretary's nenorandum of | aw cites a decision by Judge
Stewart in United States Steel Corp., 2 FMSHRC 1515 (1980), in
whi ch Judge Stewart held that the primary considerations in
det erm ni ng whet her an inspector acts reasonably in determ ning
whet her to extend the tine for abatenment are whether the origina
time allowed for abatenent was adequate and whet her the operator
conmuni cated to the inspector any extenuating circunstances which
prevented abatenent within the allotted tinme. In that case,
Judge Stewart affirned an inspector's order because the inspector
said that the operator had anple opportunity within which to
correct the condition described in his citation but failed to do
so. In this proceeding, all agree that the period of 21 hours
originally given by the inspector for cleaning all conbustible
materials fromthe cutting machi ne was an adequate anount of
time.

McCoy El khorn's chief claimof aggrievenent is that the
i nspector acted arbitrarily and unreasonably in issuing a
wi t hdrawal order instead of extending the tinme for abatenent.
Al of McCoy Elkhorn's clains of arbitrariness are based on



obligations which it places upon the inspector's shoul ders.
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McCoy El khorn first states that it was obvious that its mners
had made an extensive, good faith effort to achi eve conpliance
(Brief, pp. 12-13). There is no doubt about that clai mbecause
the i nspector agreed that MCoy El khorn's efforts had resulted in
t he cl eaning of about 60 percent of the conbustible materials
fromthe machi ne (Finding No. 10, supra).

McCoy El khorn next contends that the inspector acted
arbitrarily by issuing the order w thout nmaking appropriate
inquiries as to what action its forenen and m ners had al ready
taken to clean the nachine (Brief, p. 14). The inspector had
been a m ne foreman hinsel f before he became an inspector and
knew how much work was involved in cleaning a cutting nmachi ne
(Tr. 161). He knew that the mners had anple tinme wthin which
to clean the nachine. Therefore, he did not need to nmake an
i nvestigation to determ ne how many hours or what sorts of
mat eri al s and equi pnrent had been used to do 60 percent of the
wor k needed to renove all conbustible materials fromthe nmachine.

The third portion of McCoy El khorn's argunment with respect
to the inspector's arbitrariness in issuing the order pertains to
a very long discussion about how | ong and how hard the forenen
and mners had worked to clean all conbustible materials fromthe
cutting machine, along with enphasis on the fact that the
i nspector knew that MCoy El khorn had al ways shown a spirit of
cooperation and willingness to abate all conditions pronmptly. It
is contended that the inspector, knowi ng all the conpany had done
in this instance and possessi ng an awareness of the conpany's
spirit of cooperation in the past, acted very arbitrarily and
unreasonably in declining to extend the time for abatenent
(Brief, pp. 15-25). As | have observed above, since the
i nspector knew what kind of effort is required to clean
conbustible materials froma cutting machi ne, M Coy El khorn's
safety director and section foreman should have made it clear to
the inspector that they were willing to have additional cleaning
work performed. Instead, they took a firmposition that the
machi ne had al ready been cl eaned.

| believe that the inspector satisfactorily and succinctly
expl ai ned why his refusal to extend the tinme was not arbitrary or
unr easonabl e when he answered the foll owi ng question as indicated
bel ow (Tr. 361).

Q Yes. In other words, why didn't you just say to
them "lI'mgoing to give you--if | give you anot her
hour, will you get this cleaned to ny satisfaction?"

A. kay. Like | said before, I think in ny opinion
that I had already given thema sufficient anmount of
time to do the job in, which they had not done it.
They at no time offered to tell ne why they hadn't
cleaned it, nor did they offer to get anybody to start
cleaning on it. They never even offered to give ne a
reason to extend it.

McCoy El khorn's brief (pp. 18-19) cites as precedents two



cases in which adm nistrative | aw judge vacated orders issued
under section 104(b) of the Act. Those cases dealt with factual
situations which are conpletely different
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fromthe facts in this proceeding. |In Consolidation Coal Co., 1
FMSHRC 1638 (1979), Chief Judge Broderick vacated an order issued
under section 104(b) in a factual situation which showed that the
conpany was still working to abate the alleged violation at the
time the inspector arrived to detern ne whether the violation had
been abated. Additionally, the inspector was vague about what
additional work was required to abate the violation. 1In this
proceedi ng, McCoy El khorn was not still trying to clean the
cutting machi ne when the inspector exam ned it and McCoy El khorn
showed no willingness to do any additional work.

In Consolidation Coal Co., 2 FMSHRC 2021 (1980), the other
case cited by MCoy El khorn, Judge Cook vacated an order issued
under section 104(b) under factual conditions showi ng that the
i nspector's order required the conpany to abate a condition other
than the one described in the original citation and the conpany
requested additional tine and gave reasons why an extension of

time was needed. |In this proceeding, the inspector very
specifically stated in his order that from1/4 to 1/2 inch of oi
and grease still existed around the electrical components and

McCoy El khorn did not ask for an extension of time or give any
reason for needing additional tine.

4. \Wether Order No. 722582 Conplied with Procedura
Requi renents of Section 104(b)

McCoy El khorn (Brief, pp. 25-27) argues that the inspector's
Order No. 722582 is invalid because he did not nmake the findings
requi red by section 104(b) which provides:

If, upon any follow up inspection of a coal or other
m ne, an authorized representative of the Secretary
finds (1) that a violation described in a citation
i ssued pursuant to subsection (a) has not been totally
abated within the period of tine as originally fixed
therein or as subsequently extended, and (2) that the
period of tine for the abatenent should not be further
extended, he shall determ ne the extent of the area
affected by the violation and shall pronptly issue an
order requiring the operator of such mine or his agent
to imedi ately cause all persons * * * to be
withdrawn * * *,

McCoy El khorn clains that the above-quoted | anguage from section
104(b) requires that the inspector nmake sonme affirmative inquiry
as to whether the violation has been abated and that his actions
must show by sone concrete manifestation that the findings have
been made. MCoy El khorn says that the inspector's order clearly
shows that he did not make the two findings required by section
104(b).

Fi ndi ngs of Fact Nos. 6 through 9, supra, show that the
i nspector did make a thorough investigation of the conditions
whi ch existed on April 4 and that his actions were sufficient to
put McCoy El khorn's safety director and section foreman on notice
that the inspector had found that the violation
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still existed. There is nothing in section 104(b) which shows
that the inspector has to make a formal prelimnary finding that
the tine for abatenent should not be extended. Section 104(b),
unl i ke section 104(d) (1), contains no directive that the

i nspector's findings shall be included in his citation or order
As pointed out by the Secretary's nenorandumof law (p. 9), there
is nothing in the legislative history to show that Congress
wanted the inspector to reduce to witing, or otherw se

conmuni cate to the operator, a formal finding that the abatenent
peri od shoul d not be extended. |In support of the foregoing

concl usion, the Secretary quotes a passage from Senate Report No.
95-181, 95th Congress, 1st Session, at page 30, or page 618 of
the Legislative History of the Federal Mne Safety and Health Act
of 1977 prepared by the Senate Conmittee on Human Resources:

The Conmittee intends that w thdrawal orders shall be
i ssued when there has been a failure to abate
violations within the tinme specified in the citation
A withdrawal order is properly issued under this
section if an inspector finds during the sane or
subsequent inspection of the mne that an operator has
failed to abate a violation. For exanple, if a
citation is issued with an abatenent period of one
hour, and the violation is not abated in that tinme, the
aut hori zed representative shall issue a withdrawal
order under this section when he foll ows-up on the
citation, whether such followup is on the sanme or a
subsequent inspection.

The second argument in MCoy El khorn's brief (pp. 27-28)
regarding its claimthat the inspector's Order No. 722582 is
invalid for failure to conply with all procedural requirenents is
that the inspector's order, when originally issued, alleged on
the "Initial Action" line of the order that the order was
preceded by G tation No. 722582, whereas, in fact, Order No.
722582 was preceded by Ctation No. 722581 (Exh. 1). MCoy
El khorn argues that the inspector had already term nated the
order on April 4, 1980, the sane day it was issued, and that the
i nspector could not thereafter properly nodify the order on May
20, 1980, to reflect that the "Initial Action" reference should
have been to Citation No. 722581 instead of to Citation No.
722582. M Coy El khorn argues that the inspector did not correct
the reference to the incorrect citation until after MCoy El khorn
had already filed its Notice of Contest in this proceedi ng.

McCoy El khorn al so contends that section 104(h) of the Act
permts an inspector to nodify or term nate an order, but does
not permt himto nodify an order after he has term nated it
(Brief, p. 28).

In Ad Ben Coal Co., 2 FVMSHRC 1187 (1980), the Conm ssion
affirmed an adm ni strative | aw judge's deci si on whi ch had
affirmed four orders of wthdrawal which indicated that they had
been issued under section 104(c) (1) of the Federal Coal M ne
Heal th and Safety Act of 1969 when, in fact, they should have
shown that they were issued under section 104(c)(2) of the 1969
Act. The judge had held that the incorrect reference to section



104(c) (1) was no nore than a clerical error which did not
prejudice A d Ben in any way. The Comm ssion stated that it
agreed with the judge that O d Ben was not prejudiced because A d
Ben did not show how its defense to a 104(c)(2) order would
differ fromits defense to a 104(c)(1) order.
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In this proceeding, the inspector's mstake in witing No.

722582 was even nore the result of a clerical error than in the AQd

Ben case cited above. Exhibit 1 shows that the inspector's O der
722582 was served on the sane person who had received Citation
No. 722581 on the previous day. That individual testified at the
heari ng on cross-exam nation that the inspector's use of No.
722582, instead of No. 722581, had not in any way confused him
McCoy El khorn has not shown that its defense was prejudiced in
any way by the inspector's having witten the wong citation
number on Order No. 722582.

It appears to nme that an inspector ought to be able to
correct a mstake regardl ess of whether he discovers it before or
after a Notice of Contest has been filed or whether he discovers
it after he has already termnated the order. It is certain that
section 104(h) of the Act enpowers the Commi ssion and its judges
to nodify orders. Therefore, to renove all doubt as to whether
O der No. 722582 has been nodified to correct the reference to
the erroneous citation nunber, the order acconpanying this
decision will nodify the order to change the reference to
Citation No. 722581 instead of to Citation No. 722582. In any
event, | find that the inspector's order was not rendered invalid
by the fact that he m stakenly wote Citation No. 722582 on the
"Initial Action" line instead of Citation No. 722581

No.

5. Wiether the Order Described a Different Condition fromthe

Condition Set forth in the Citation

The | ast argument in MCoy El khorn's brief (p. 28), to the
effect that Order No. 722582 is invalid, begins with a claimthat
t he | anguage in section 104(b) shows that any order issued for
failure to abate nust be based on the continued existence of the
sanme condition which constituted the violation described in the
underlying 104(a) citation. MCoy El khorn clains that Ctation
No. 722581 referred to oil around "electrical notors" although
the inspector admtted during cross-examnation that there was
only one notor under the cutting machine's lids (Tr. 70). MCoy
El khorn contends that Order No. 722582 all eged a condition far
beyond the scope of the condition described in Ctation No.
722581.

As shown in Finding No. 3, supra, Ctation No. 722581
al l eged that "conbustible material in the formof oil and grease
with coal dust was allowed to accunul ate under the |lid, on and
around el ectrical motors, in one place around the notor 1/2 inch
deep on the 16-RB cutter on the 002 section.”™ Oder No. 722582,
as shown in Finding No. 8, supra, alleged "[a]ll conbustible
material still has not been cleaned fromthe 16 RB cutter, and
oil and grease still can be neasured from1/4 and 1/2 inch in
depth and no one is cleaning on this piece of equipnent.”

As to McCoy El khorn's claimthat the inspector nistakenly
referred to "electrical notors" when, in fact, there is only one
el ectrical nmotor, the testinony shows unequivocally that the rear
conpartnent contains both a hydraulic notor and an el ectric notor
(Tr. 364). To the extent that the inspector's citation referred



to "electrical notors," he may have been in
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error, but only because the adjective "electrical" nodified the
word "motors."” Since McCoy El khorn's superintendent is the one
who clarified the record by pointing out that the rear
conpartnent contained both a hydraulic nmotor and an el ectrica
motor, | find that the inspector's reference to the word "notor™
in the plural was not so m sleading or confusing as to make the
i nspector's order invalid.

As to McCoy El khorn's claimthat Order No. 722582 unduly
wi dened the scope of the condition alleged in the original
citation, I find that the contention is not well taken. The
i nspector's citation had clearly stated that the conbustible
materials consisted of oil, grease, and coal dust. The order
also clearly stated that "[a]ll conbustible material still has
not been cleaned fromthe 16 RB cutter, and oil and grease stil
can be neasured from1/4 to 1/2 inch in depth.” | find that the
order very precisely stated that the same condition described in
the citation still existed. Inasnuch as the inspector had gone
over the cutting machi ne and had shown MCoy El khorn's safety
director the exact nmeasurenments of the oil and grease which stil
remai ned on the cutting machine, there can be no doubt but that
the safety director knew exactly what conditions still existed
when the inspector issued his order.

| do not agree that Order No. 722582 referred to "cutters”
in the plural (Exh. 1), but assum ng, arguendo, that such is
true, McCoy El khorn's safety director stated that there is only
one cutting machine at the No. 4 Mne (Tr. 197). Therefore, no
one woul d have been confused by a reference to "cutters” even if
the inspector had used that word in the plural

Cvil Penalty Issues

The | ast part of McCoy El khorn's brief (pp. 29-31) addressed
the civil penalty issues which | shall consider when | have
received the Secretary's Petition for Assessnent of Civil Peanlty
seeki ng assessnent of a penalty for the violation of section
75.400 alleged in Ctation No. 722581. As | indicated in the

first part of this decision, | shall sever the civil penalty
i ssues fromthis proceeding and decide themafter | have received
the Secretary's Petition. | shall consider MCoy El khorn's

argunents with respect to the civil penalty issues in the
separ at e deci sion which remains to be witten.

U timate Findings and Concl usi ons

(1) Citation No. 722581 dated April 3, 1980, was properly
i ssued under section 104(a) of the Act and correctly stated that
a violation of section 75.400 had occurred. Therefore, the
Notice of Contest filed on May 2, 1980, in Docket No. KENT
80- 244-R shoul d be denied and G tation No. 722581 shoul d be
af firmed.

(2) Oder No. 722582 dated April 4, 1980, was properly
i ssued under section 104(b) of the Act. Therefore, the Notice of
Contest filed May 2, 1980, in Docket No. KENT 80-243-R shoul d be



deni ed and Order No. 722582 should be affirned.
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(3) The reference on the "lInitial Action” line of Order No.
722582 should be corrected to reflect the fact that the initial
action preceding the issuance of the order was the issuance by
the inspector on April 3, 1980, of Citation No. 722581 instead of
Citation No. 722582 as shown on the order as it was originally
i ssued.

(4) MCoy El khorn Coal Corporation, as the operator of the
No. 4 and other mines, is subject to the jurisdiction of the Act
and to the regul ati ons promul gat ed t hereunder.

(5) Inasmuch as the Secretary of Labor has not yet filed a
Petition for Assessment of Civil Penalty with respect to the
civil penalty issues which were consolidated for hearing in this
proceedi ng, the civil penalty issues should be severed fromthis
proceedi ng and decided in a separate decision based on the facts
in this record upon receipt by the undersigned adm nistrative | aw
judge of the Petition for Assessnment of Civil Penalty pertaining
to the violation of section 75.400 alleged in Citation No. 722581
dated April 3, 1980.

VWHEREFORE, it is ordered:

(A) Citation No. 722581 dated April 3, 1980, is affirned
and the Notice of Contest filed in Docket No. KENT 80-244-R is
deni ed.

(B) Order No. 722582 is nodified on the "Initial Action"
line to reflect that the initial action was Ctation No. 722581
instead of Citation No. 722582.

(C© Oder No. 722582 dated April 4, 1980, is affirned, as
nodi fi ed by paragraph (B) above, and the Notice of Contest filed
in Docket No. KENT 80-243-R is denied.

(D) The civil penalty issues consolidated for hearing in
this proceeding are severed fromthis proceeding and the decision
on those issues is deferred until such tinme as | receive the
Secretary of Labor's Petition for Assessnent of Cvil Penalty
with respect to the violation of section 75.400 alleged in
Citation No. 722581 dated April 3, 1980.

Richard C. Steffey
Admi ni strative Law Judge
(Phone: 703- 756- 6225)



